**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-001062  
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-42-02352

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 15 2016

**SC SUPREME COURT**

JAMES EDWARD JOHNSON, JR. #353643

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

**ALICIA A. OLIVE, ESQUIRE**  
Assistant Attorney General

**JAMES EDWARD JOHNSON, JR.**  
SCDC No. 353643

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

Perry Correctional Institution  
430 Oaklawn Road  
Pelzer, SC 29669

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief to Petitioner when the court erroneously found counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide adequate advice concerning the State's ability to prove "intent to permanently deprive."
  
- II. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief to Petitioner when the court erroneously found that counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the validity of the armed robbery indictments before advising Petitioner the plead guilty to said indictments.
  
- III. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief to Petitioner, when the court erroneously found that counsel's failure to research/investigate possible defenses had no impact on the intelligent and voluntary nature of the plea.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, James Edward Johnson, Jr., was indicted at the August 2012<sup>1</sup> term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for Four (4) Counts of Kidnapping, Three (3) Counts of Armed Robbery, Two (2) Counts of Attempted Armed Robbery, One (1) Count of Failure to Stop for A Blue Light Without Injury or Death, First Offence and One (1) Count of Unlawful Possession of a Stolen Pistol.

The Petitioner was also before the plea court for a hearing on his probation violation stemming from warrant number W-42-120311. The Petitioner was placed on probation on January 11, 2008, before Judge Hayes for the offense of Attempted Armed Robbery and was sentenced to fifteen (15) years imprisonment suspended to time served and five (5) years of probation. The Petitioner was also under special probation conditions, including restitution, fines, fees and other obligations- random alcohol and drug testing, no possession of a firearm, and no contact with the victim. At the hearing, the plea court revoked the Petitioner's probation in full and imposed the Petitioner's active sentence of fifteen (15) years imprisonment.

The Petitioner was represented by Andrea Leah Price, Esquire. On December 18, 2012, the Petitioner pled guilty as indicted to all charges. The Honorable J. Derham Cole sentences the Petitioner as follows: Four (4) Counts of Kidnapping to Twenty (20) years each concurrent, Three (3) counts of Armed Robbery to Thirty (30) years each concurrent, Two (2) counts of Attempted Armed Robbery to Twenty (20) years each concurrent, One (1) Count of Failure to Stop for a Blue Light Without Injury or Death, First Offense to Three (3) years concurrent and One (1) count of Unlawful Possession of a Stolen Pistol to Five (5) years concurrent. The

---

<sup>1</sup> The State's return mistakenly states that the Petitioner was indicted in 2010. See App p.49 The Petitioner was actually indicted in 2012. See Ap. p. 145-166. Numerous filings in the case refer to that occurring.

Petitioner's Thirty (30) year sentence on One (1) count of Armed Robbery was consecutive to Petitioner's probation violation revocation. The Petitioner's Co-Defendant Jalek Jonques Miller, likewise pled guilty and was sentenced during the Petitioner's hearing. The Petitioner did not appeal his plea, sentences, or probation revocation.

In his PCR application, the Petitioner alleges he is being held in custody unlawfully for the following reasons:

1. Ineffective assistance of Counsel
2. Involuntary Guilty Plea
3. Due Process Violation

This application was filed April 29, 2013. Respondents made the return on or about June 27, 2014. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on January 12, 2015 before the Honorable Deadra L Jefferson, presiding Circuit Court Judge. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by J Brandt Rucker, Esquire. On March 31, 2015, the PCR Court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all the Petitioner's claims. Notice of Appeal was timely served and filed. The Petitioner now seeks a Writ of Certiorari.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW:

In a long line of cases including, but not limited to Powell v. Alabama 287 US 45 (1932) Johnson v. Zerbst 304 US 459 (1938) and Gideon v. Wainwright 372 US 335 (1963) the US Supreme Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to Counsel exists, and is necessary, in order to protect the fundamental right to a Fair Trial. The Constitution guarantees a Fair Trial through the Due Process Clauses, but defines the basic elements of a Fair Trial largely

through several provisions of the Sixth Amendment including the Counsel Clause, which reads as follows:

“In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public Trial by an impartial Jury of the state and district. Wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witness in his favor, and to have the assistance of Counsel for his defense.”

As the Supreme Court stated in Strickland v. Washington 466 US 668 (1984) a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to Counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to Counsel’s skill and knowledge is necessary to afford defendants the “ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution” to which they are entitled. Mindful of the vital nature of Counsel’s assistance the Supreme Court has held that, with certain exceptions, a person accused of a Federal or State crime has the right to have Counsel appointed, if retained Counsel cannot be obtained. The fact that a person, who happens to be a lawyer is present at trial alongside the accused, however is not enough to satisfy the Constitutional command. The Sixth Amendment recognizes the right to assistance of Counsel “because it envisions counsel playing a role that is critical to the ability of the adversarial system to produce just results.” Strickland. An accused is entitled to the assistance of an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair. For that reason, the Court has recognized that the “Right to Counsel” is the right to effective assistance of counsel. Government violates the right to effective assistance when it interferes with Counsel’s ability to make independent decisions about how to conduct the

defense. See e.g. Geders v. United States 425 US 80 (1976), Herring v. New York 422 US 853 (1975), Brooks v. Tennessee 406 US 605 (1972), Ferguson v. Georgia 365 US 570 ( 1961) Counsel however can also deprive a defendant of the right to effective assistance by simply failing to render “ adequate legal assistance “ Cuyler v. Sullivan 446 US at 344 ( actual conflict of interest adversely affecting lawyers performance renders assistance ineffective).A fair assessment of attorney performance dictates that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances from Counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from Counsel’s perspective at the time. Due to the difficulties inherent in evaluating any case, courts must indulge in a strong presumption that Counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

That is in order to prevail, the defendant must overcome the presumption that under the circumstances the, challenged action “might be considered sound trial strategy”. Since there are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case, even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way. See Goodpaster, The Trial for Life: Effective Assistance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases 58 N.Y.U.L. Rev. 299.343 (1983). Therefore a court deciding an actual ineffective claim must judge the reasonableness of Counsel’s challenged conduct on the facts of each particular case. In making a claim of an ineffective assistance of Counsel, a Petitioner must identify Counsel’s act or omissions that are alleged to not have been the result of reasonable professional judgement. The court must then determine whether in light of all the circumstances, the identifiable acts or omission were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance. In making that determination, the court should keep in mind that Counsel’s function, in accordance with prevailing professional norms,

is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. In certain Sixth Amendment contexts, prejudice is presumed. That is actual or constructive denial of Counsel altogether is legally presumed to result in prejudice. The same is true for various kinds of state interference with Counsel's assistance. In these circumstances prejudice is so likely that a case-by-case inquiry into whether it exists is not worth the cost. Moreover, circumstances that involve impairments of the Sixth Amendment right are easily identifiable and, since the prosecution is directly responsible, are easy for the government to prevent. In order to meet the test for prejudice the defendant must show that there is reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove that counsel's representation was below the standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. at 52, 106 S. Ct. at 366; Roscoe, 345 S.C. at 20, 546 S. E. 2<sup>nd</sup> at 419 (citing Hill, 474 U.S. at 52, 106 S. Ct. at 366; Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000) Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000); Rayford v State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994)). To be knowing and voluntary, a plea must be entered with a full understanding of the charges and the consequences of the plea. Boykin v Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-44, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 1712 (1969); Dover v State, 304 S.C. 433, 434, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991) (citing State v Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 394, 271 S.E.2d 602, 602 (1980)). When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (citing Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 650 (2000)).

See Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984)). “Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined but an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” Roddy v. State, 336 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2000). “In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have full understanding of the consequences of the plea.” Id. (citing Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991); State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” By a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993). “Under the procedure, a defendant, before his guilty plea may be accepted, is examined under oath on the voluntariness of his plea, including particularly its freedom from coercion by threat.” Edmonds, 546 F.2d at 567. When a defendant pleads guilty on the advice of counsel, the plea may be attacked through only a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2002) (citing Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 363-64, 527 S.E.2d 742, 747 (1999))

ARGUMENTS:

**I. The PCR Court erred in denying relief to Petitioner when the Court erroneously found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide adequate advice concerning the State's ability to prove "Intent to Permanently Deprive."**

Petitioner pled guilty to three (3) Armed Robbery indictments which alleged cell phones as the property taken. However Petitioner presented evidence at the PCR hearing in the form of a police reports and victim statements. . (See Appendix p 125 and 126) as well as his own sworn testimony which collectively prove that Petitioner was not in possession of the victim's personal property when he left the scene. In fact the record proves that the victim's personal property was later found at the scene. (See. Appendix p. 102 line 23-25, p 103 line 1) with this being the case these Armed Robbery Indictment should have been dismissed and it was poor professional judgement on Counsel's behalf to advise her clients to plead guilty to charges that the State could not prove all elements to. In South Carolina the law is clear:

"Animus Furandi", is simply the Latin term for the intent to steal. See Wayne R Lafave, "Substantive Criminal Law § 8.00 (1986)" The meaning at common law of the words "Felonious" and "Felonious intent" means a criminal intent or more specifically, an intent to steal." See. 50Am. Jur. 2d Larceny §41 (1995). Thus, the phrase used (i.e. "did feloniously take") alleged a taking of property with the intent to steal. The intent to steal is the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession of his property. See. McAnnich and Fairey. The Criminal Law of South Carolina. Third Edition, Offenses against Property, at page 257. The intent to permanently deprive the victim of the property would be part and parcel of the felonious intent.

In Kerrigan v. State, 304 SC 561, 406 S.E2d 160 (1991), this court stated that Larceny is the felonious taking of the goods of another without the consent of the other. The court went on to state that an intent by the offender to permanently deprive the owner of possession by converting the property to the offenders own use is implicit in the definition of larceny. Id. In Broom v. State 351 SC 219 (2002). This Court stated: “Similarly the intent to permanently deprive is also implicit in the definition of armed robbery.

In the present case Petitioner did not take the property by converting it to his own use. Petitioner did not flee with the property. In fact the record is pretty clear as to what happened. The victim placed her cell phone on the ground and the male at the register kicked the phone. (See Appendix p.70 lines 5-14). Such actions lack the required “Animus Furandi” and in absence of such element the State could not have satisfied its burden of proof. Thus Counsel’s advice to plead guilty to these indictments were not considered sound trial strategy. Petitioner was prejudiced by her deficient performance in as much as had she properly and adequately advised Petitioner as to the States inability to prove the “intent to permanently deprive”. Petitioner would not have pled guilty to these charges, but would have insisted on a trial and could have requested a lesser included offense. This Court should grant the Writ of Certiorari on this issue.

**II. The PCR Court erred in denying relief to Petitioner when the court erroneously found that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the validity of the Armed Robbery indictments before advising Petitioner to plead guilty to said indictments.**

Petitioner plead guilty to three (3) Armed Robbery Indictments. Two (2) out of Three (3) Indictments charge that Petitioner robbed the Family Dollar Store for money as well as robbed two (2) of its' employees for cellphones ( Ms. Smith and Family Dollar in one indictment and Ms. Hughes and Family Dollar) in one indictment.

Petitioner argues that by including both victims (Ms. Smith and Family Dollar and Ms. Hughes and Family Dollar) in a one count Indictment. The indictment becomes Duplicitous because it charges two (2) separate offenses in the one (1) count indictment, thus rendering said indictments defective as an Indictment of Duplicity. See. State v. Samuels 743 S.E. 2d 773 (2013)

Petitioner's Counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the indictment on this ground and also violating SC code ann 17-19-90, Counsel's deficient performance did in fact prejudice the Petitioner in as much that, first the Petitioner could not plead guilty to arm robbery of the store and not guilty to arm robbery of the victims cell phones, or vice versa on a one count indictment, second the notice document provided insufficient notice by informing Petitioner that he was charged with robbing the store twice, or from a different point, the cell phone theft should have been dropped to a lesser charge of attempted armed robbery and received a maximum sentence of twenty (20) years opposed to thirty (30) for armed robbery. This misinformation could have played a vital role in inducing Petitioner to plead guilty. One would be quicker to take a chance at trial for one (1) robbery, but would hesitate to do so when he is being accused of robbing a store not once, but twice. Such accusations implies a heavier punishment if found guilty. This is why it was so important for Counsel to correct the error in the notice document. Had the Petitioner known of this error he

would have insisted it to be corrected or not pled guilty. Writ of Certiorari should be granted on this issue.

**III. The PCR court erred in denying relief to Petitioner, when the court erroneously found that Counsel's failure to research / investigate possible defenses had no impact on the intelligent and voluntary nature of the plea.**

During the PCR hearing the Petitioner testified that the main reason he entered a plea of guilty was because his Counsel told him that he had no defenses. Petitioner also testified that if he would have been able to present his defenses he would not have plead guilty. See. (Appendix p 72lines 16-20). Petitioner testified that he believed his charge should not have been armed robbery and that because of Counsel's advice of the statement from the victim. (Ms. Williams) wherein she stated that her phone was kicked away. See. (Appendix 103, lines 10-13) Counsel also testified that she was aware of the report which stated that the phone had been found, two (2) of them in the back of the store. See (Appendix p 102, line 23 and p 103, line 1) Counsel testified that she was not aware of any evidence showing that they (Petitioner or Co- Defendant) transported, picked up and or put the phones in the trash. See. (PCR Appendix p 50, lines 11-14) Counsel testified that she reviewed the store video and that there is no evidence of the Petitioner ordering any people within the Family Dollar Store to do anything. See. (Appendix p 113 lines 5-8) Counsel also testified that one indictment for attempted armed robbery, the Petitioner was simply charged with the theft from the victim because she was merely present, and that the State could not prove a cell phone existed. See. (Appendix p 109: 9-111:16) Counsel also testified that it was proper for the

Petitioner to be charged twice for arm robbery of the Family Dollar Store because there was two employees present at the time of the robbery, but could not provide the court with any South Carolina legal precedent to support that conclusion. See (Appendix p 111:20- p112:25)