STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001062
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-42-02352

James Edward Johnson, Jr., #353643 Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ALICIA A. OLIVE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 102089

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

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

Petitioner's arguments at the PCR hearing and before this Court are that because two victims gave statements that the phones were "kicked away" (instead of taken) and because the phones were later found behind the store in the trash bin, he had a viable defense to the attempted armed robbery and armed robbery charges. However, Petitioner cannot now challenge the sufficiency of the evidence, because a guilty plea generally acts as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses. State v. Munsch, 287 S.C. 313, 338 S.E.2d 329 (1985).

Regardless, Petitioner has never alleged that he was innocent; rather, he testified at the PCR hearing that he did not deny a crime was committed and admitted that he entered the store carrying a weapon. As part of the same plea arrangement, Petitioner also pleaded guilty to four counts of kidnapping, which is also a most serious offense under § 17-25-45, and is punishable by up to thirty years of imprisonment. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. In addition, when providing the factual basis for Petitioner's plea, the solicitor stated that "one of the employees was forced to open the stores safe. [And] [t]hey took cash and cell phones from people inside the store and fled out of the back of the store as police were arriving." (App. p. 22, lines 15-18).

Although Petitioner testified he would have proceeded to trial but for the alleged errors of counsel, the PCR judge found Counsel's testimony to be "more credible and compelling than [Petitioner's] testimony as to all allegations." (App. p. 134). See Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738,739 (2010) ("[An appellate court] gives great deference to a PCR [court's] findings where matters of credibility are involved."). Furthermore, "[the] prejudice prong ordinarily requires more than simply a defendant's assertion that but for counsel's deficient performance he would not have ple[aded] guilty but would have gone to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

The PCR judge ultimately found that Petitioner failed to show that Counsel's performance was deficient. (App. p. 136). The PCR judge found that Counsel "demonstrated the normal degree of skill, knowledge, professional judgment, and representation that are expected of an attorney who practices criminal law in South Carolina." (App. p. 136). The Court additionally found that Counsel adequately conferred with Petitioner, conducted a proper investigation, and provided thorough representation. (App. p. 136). This Court "gives great deference to the [PCR] court's findings of fact and conclusions of law," Dempsey, 363 S.C. at

368, 610 S.E.2d at 814, and must affirm the PCR court if there is any evidence of probative value to support its findings Id. Here, there is ample probative evidence in the record to support the finding. Counsel gave credible testimony that Petitioner had no defenses. She was familiar with Petitioner's argument regarding the cellphones, but gave credible testimony that it was not a viable defense. The record reflects that there was substantial circumstantial evidence that the phones of the victims were removed and placed in the trash bin from which the jury could have easily inferred that the Applicant and his co-defendant placed them there. Petitioner made no showing that his Counsel overlooked dispositive facts or legal arguments, or that his case was prejudiced by his Counsel's advice to plead guilty. Furthermore, Petitioner made no showing of how this alleged defense would have been successful, especially in light of the substantial evidence against him—including his statement to police. In addition, the PCR Court found that there was substantial circumstantial evidence indicating that Petitioner had control over the victim's phones, the victim's testimony at trial would reflect this, and the jury could easily infer that Petitioner had placed the victims' phones in the trash bin. (App. p. 138). If Petitioner had gone to trial, he would have been served with notice of life without parole, and if convicted of only one most serious charge, he would have been sentenced to life.

The record reflects that Petitioner failed to show either deficiency or prejudice with respect to this claim. Accordingly, there is ample probative evidence to support the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700 ("Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim."). Therefore, this Court should deny review as to this claim.

II. The record contains substantial evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving Counsel was ineffective for not challenging the sufficiency of his indictments

A. Issue Preservation

As an initial matter, Respondent submits that Petitioner's argument that the indictment was duplicitous is not preserved. No testimony was presented on this matter and Petitioner never testified at the PCR hearing that this had any effect on his decision to plead guilty. Furthermore, this argument was never raised to the PCR court. At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citing Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). Furthermore, "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Id. Therefore, the argument that the indictments were duplicitous is not preserved for review.

To the extent Petitioner asserts an allegation of violation of due process, that issue is not preserved for this Court's review. At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citing Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). The PCR judge found that although Petitioner raised an allegation of due process violation in his application, he failed to proceed with presenting any evidence or testimony in support of his claim at his evidentiary hearing, and therefore, the issue was voluntarily abandoned. Accordingly, any allegation that Petitioner was denied due process is not preserved.

B. Merits¹

Nevertheless, the record supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show that Counsel was ineffective for not challenging Petitioner's indictments. An indictment is purely a notice document. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (2012) ("Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which . . . charges the crime . . . so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood."). "The primary purpose of an indictment is to put the defendant on notice of what he [charged with], by apprising him of the elements of the offense, and to allow him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and to enable the circuit court to know what judgement to pronounce if the defendant is convicted." State v. Smalls, 364 S.C. 343, 346-47, 613 S.E.2d 754, 756 (2005). The court determines the sufficiency of an indictment by analyzing: "whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty . . . to enable the court to know what judgement to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer . . . and (2) whether it apprises [him] of the elements of the offense." State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102-03, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005) (citing State v. Wilkes, 353 S.C. 462, 578 S.E.2d 717 (2003)). "In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances." Id. (citing State v. Adams, 277 S.C. 115, 283 S.E.2d 582 (1981)). "[W]hether the indictment could be more definite or certain is irrelevant." Id. (citing State v. Knuckles, 354 S.C. 626, 583 S.E.2d 51 (2003)). See also State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 97-98, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (2007) (citing Evans v. State, 363 S.C. 495, 508, 611 S.E.2d 510, 517 (2005)) (noting

¹ Respondent notes that the issue as framed in the issue statement differs from the argument Petitioner makes. Without waiving its preservation arguments that the substance of Petitioner's arguments are not preserved, because Petitioner is pro se, Respondent still wishes to address the merits of his assertion contained in his issue statement because the PCR judge did rule on the sufficiency of the indictments in her order.

that all of the surrounding circumstances must be weighted to make an accurate determination of whether the defendant was prejudiced by a lack of notice and an insufficient indictment).

Here, the record reflects that Petitioner was fully aware of the charges he was facing. In fact, he was on probation at the time of the armed robbery for the charge of attempted armed robbery. The PCR judge found that the indictments sufficiently describe the offenses to place Petitioner on notice of the charged offenses and found them sufficient on their face because they charge two separate armed robberies of two separate individuals of their cell phones. (App. p. 119).

Petitioner faced a potential sentence of life without parole even if the State had prevailed on only one armed robbery charge at trial because of his prior record. Further, the evidence of the case contained a contemporaneous video of the events, which would be the most damaging evidence and support a charge of accomplice liability even without a charge of conspiracy. Applicant presented no evidence or testimony to support a claim that he had any viable defenses for trial. Accordingly, the record contains evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show either deficiency or prejudice.

III. The record contains substantial evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner failed to prove that his guilty plea was involuntary

There is ample evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving that his guilty plea was involuntary. A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the plea only by showing that (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001) (citing Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354,

363-64, 527 S.E.2d 742, 747 (1999)). When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (citing Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 650 (2000)). "Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing," Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2000). "In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea." Id. (citing Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991); State v. Hazel, 275 S.G. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977)). Therefore, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975).

The PCR judge found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving either deficiency of counsel, or that he would have proceeded to trial but for the alleged deficiencies. (App. p. 142). The PCR judge found the transcript of the guilty plea to be most compelling. (App. p. 141). The PCR judge acknowledged that the plea judge thoroughly questioned Petitioner to ensure that he was pleading guilty with full knowledge of the charges, potential sentences, and constitutional rights he waived. (App. p. 141). At the plea, Petitioner affirmed he understood the potential

penalties associated with each charge, the fact that they were classified as violent, most serious, and no-parole offenses, (App. pp. 13, line 11-p. 14, line 23, App. p. 17, lines 3-18), and the fact that the plea judge was bound to impose a mandatory minimum sentence and could impose the maximum penalty based on Petitioner's plea to the charges "straight up." (App. pp. 6-9). The plea judge determined that Petitioner entered his guilty plea freely and voluntarily, (App. p. 18, lines 4-8), understood and had ample opportunity to discuss with his attorney the charges and potential penalties he was facing, (App. p. 12, lines 13-16), understood and had ample opportunity to discuss with his attorney the consequences of entering a guilty plea, (App. p. 12, lines 4-8), and that Petitioner understood he was waiving his right to assert any defenses to the charges. (App. p. 4, lines 15-24). Further, Petitioner affirmed that he was able to explain and understand the facts and circumstances of the offense and any possible defenses with his lawyer (App. p. 12, line 18-3:8). Petitioner affirmed that he understood he was waiving his constitutional rights. (App. p. 14, line 24-15, line 17). Petitioner told the plea judge that he was not promised anything to plead guilty and had not been threatened or forced into entering his plea (App. pp. 15-18). Additionally, Petitioner told the plea judge that he did not suffer from any addiction, mental illness, or emotional condition that prevented him from fully understanding the guilty plea proceeding (App. p. 19, line 20-23). Petitioner asserts that Counsel should have researched and set forth a defense. However, Counsel testified that she was aware prior to the plea that the cell phones were found in the back of the store and that a victim gave a statement that her phone was kicked away, but that she saw no viable legal defense arising from those facts. Regardless, the record reflects that by pleading guilty, Petitioner waived his right to assert any defenses he might have. Petitioner made no showing that he should be permitted to depart from the statements he

made at the plea hearing. Therefore, the record contains evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show that Counsel's performance was deficient.

Furthermore, at the PCR hearing, Petitioner acknowledged that he would be facing a sentence of life without parole if he had gone to trial. (App. p. 81, lines 21-24). Petitioner also informed the plea judge that he agreed with the facts as articulated by the solicitor and that he wanted to plead guilty. (App. pp. 26-27). Petitioner also stated at the plea that he did not want to go to trial. (App. p. 18, lines 1-3). On the record at Petitioner's PCR hearing, the PCR judge noted that the State would have only needed to succeed on one charge against Petitioner to seek the life without parole sentence. (App. p. 117, lines 1-4). Petitioner was facing life without parole and both he and Counsel testified that Counsel advised him that pleading guilty to avoid the life without parole sentence was in his best interest. Counsel further testified that the evidence against Petitioner included a voluntary statement that he made to police, a video of the inside of the store, victim's statements, and the victim's testimony. Accordingly, there is evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner failed to show that he was prejudiced by any alleged error of Counsel.

Based on the above, there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner failed to show that his guilty plea was involuntary. Therefore, this Court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the PCR court's ruling and deny the petition for writ of certiorari.